1977

the State of Utah v. Brent Jay Sessions and Louis R. Dabbs : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant, Brent Jay Sessions, appeals from a judgement of guilty on one count of Burglary in the Third Judicial District Court, the Honorable Hal G. Taylor, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was convicted of one count of Burglary. Trial was held in the Third Judicial District Court of Utah on December 9, 1977 with the Honorable Hal G. Taylor, presiding.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of his conviction and/or a remand to the District Court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Cope's Chevron Service Station, located at 480 East South Temple was burglarized and ransacked (p. 22). There were no witnesses to the burglary, which was discovered at 7:00 a.m. on September 16, 1977 by Gene Cope. Missing from the station was 80 pounds of meat (p. 23), a portable T.V., 20 inspection stickers (p. 25), a stamp pad (p. 25) and an electric razor (p. 26). A police investigation turned up no fingerprints or any clues to the identity of the burglar (p. 35).

On September 22, 1977, the Defendant's apartment located at 216 E. Street in Salt Lake City was searched pursuant to a search warrant issued on Mike Hanks (p. 29) affidavit based on information supplied by a confidential informant. The search resulted in the recovery of 20 pounds of meat, a portable T. V. and 5 inspection stickers and the arrest of Brent Jay Sessions and Louis Dabbs for Burglary (p. 34).

During the search, the officers asked a few questions of the Defendants. Brent Sessions, upon being asked who the T. V. belonged to, stated that it belonged to a friend (p. 33). Louis Dabbs, when questioned about the safety stickers, replied that he was an investor (p. 33). No questions were asked concerning the meat.

Of the items recovered all were located in conspicuous and/or obvious locations and there had been no attempt to hide or conceal them. At the trial there was no evidence that the Defendants tried to escape or were anything but polite, calm and respectful to the police officers.

On these facts the case was tried to the Court resulting in the conviction of Brent Jay Sessions and Louis R. Dabbs. It is from this judgment of guilty and the subsequent denial of a motion for new trial that the Defendant Brent Jay Sessions appeals.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

Point Number One: The Trial Court Erred in Denying Defendant's Motion for Separate Trials.

Point Number Two: The Trial Court Committed Reversible Error in Denying Defendant's Motion to Compel Discovery and Refusing to Order the State to Disclose the Name and Address of the Confidential Informant.

Point Number Three: The Trial Court Committed Reversible Error in Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress the Evidence Obtained Pursuant to a Search Warrant Issued Based on a Constitutionally Invalid Affidavit.

Point Number Four: The Trial Judge Erred in Applying the Presumption Created in UCA 76-6-402 to a Burglary Charge.

Point Number Five: The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Rule that the Evidence was Insufficient as a Matter of Law to Find the Defendants Guilty of Burglary.

ARGUMENT

POINT OF ERROR NUMBER ONE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING
DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SEPARATE TRIALS.

The Utah Code of Criminal Procedure 77-21-44 provides that the trial Court may sever an information into separate informations and order separate Trials (as may be proper) if there is a misjoinder of parties Defendant.

The information charged both Defendants with the offense of Burglary. At the time of the execution of the search warrant, both Defendants made statements, though not confessions, that could possibly be taken as incriminatory towards the other and used against the other. By not ordering separate trials, the Defendants were denied their 6th Amendment right of confrontation and 14th Amendment right to due process.

The record shows that when Louis Dabbs was asked about the inspection stickers, he made the statement that he was an investor. This statement, while admittedly not a confession, is incriminatory in that it shows a knowledge on the part of Dabbs' of where he got the stickers. But because the Court refused to order separate trials, Brent Sessions was denied his right of confrontation secured by the 6th Amendment and was unable to cross examine Defendant Dabbs.

The United States Supreme Court stated in Pointer vs. Texas 380 U. S. 400, 404, 13 L.Ed2d 923, 926 85 S.CL. 1065, "that the right of cross-examination is included in the right of an accused in a criminal case to confront the witnesses against him secured by the 6th Amendment." A major reason underlying the constitutional confrontation rule is to give a Defendant charged with a crime an opportunity to cross-examine the witness against him. Id. at 406-407, 13 L.Ed2d 927, 928.

In Bruton vs. U.S. 391 U.S. 123, 20 LED2d 476, 88 S. Ct. 1620, where there was a joint trial of two Defendants, and there was a confession by one that was used against. The other the Supreme Court held that because of the substantial risk and despite instructions to the contrary, the jury looked to the incriminating extrajudicial statements in determining petitioner's guilt, admission of Evans confession in this joint trial violated petitioner's right of cross-examination secured by the 6th Amendment.

Bruton has two slight differences from our case, but still those differences do not discount its application. Admittedly, Bruton involved a confession and trial by a jury, but the fact that there are only incriminatory statements and a Judge sitting as fact finder cannot diminish the rights of the Defendants. An important element of a fair trial is that a jury [or fact-finder] consider only relevant and competent evidence bearing on the issue of guilt or innocence. Blumenthal vs. U.S. 332 U.S. 539, 559-560, 92 LED 154, 169, 68 S. Ct. 248, The Advisory Committee on Rules (for the composition of Federal Rules) stated that:

"Defendant may be prejudiced by the admission of evidence against a co-defendant of a statement or confession made by that co-defendant. This prejudice cannot be dispelled by cross-examination if the co-defendant does not take the stand. 34 FRD 419."

And Justice Stewart in his concurrence in Bruton stated:

"I think it clear that the underlying rationale of the 6th Amendment's Confrontation Clause precludes reliance upon cautionary instructions when the highly damaging out-of-

court statement of a co-defendant who is not subject to cross-examination is deliverately placed before a jury at a joint trial, Id At. 391 U.S. 137, 138, 20 LED2 486."

This statement shows that the intention of the Court was not to limit the holding of Bruton to only confessions, but to extend it to any damaging out-of-court statements.

Because of Justice Stewart's statements and the 6th Amendment Confrontation Clause, Bruton should have been applied to this case and separate trials ordered.

POINT OF ERROR NUMBER TWO: THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO COMPEL DISCOVERY AND REFUSING TO ORDER THE STATE TO DISCLOSE THE NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT.

The purpose of the State's privilege to withhold from disclosure the identity of persons who furnish information of violations of law to officers charged with enforcement of that law is the furtherance and protection of the public interest in effective law enforcement. Roviaro vs. U.S. 353 U.S. 53, 59, "But the scope of the privilege is limited by the fundamental requirements of fairness. Where the disclosure of an informant's identity . . . is relevant and helpful to the defense of an accused, or is essential to a fair determination of a cause, the privilege must give way. Id at 61."

Under our facts, the record shows that Defendant's apartment was searched pursuant to a search warrant issued on the Affidavid of Mike Hanks on information supplied by a confidential informant. The name of the confidential informant was not disclosed and the Defendants were unable to find out his identity. The statement by Mr. Dabbs that he was an investor can be construed to mean that he bought the safety stickers

from someone if it was the confidential informant, it would indeed be helpful, relevant and essential to the defense of the accused. But because the State did not disclose, nor the trial Judge order the disclosure, the Defendants are precluded from cross-examination and confrontation of a highly material witness.

The reasons given by the State for non-disclosure of the identity of the confidential informant was they had several cases pending right now in Court on the same confidential informant, his safety and that we are presenting some facts to the next Federal Grand Jury in regard to heroin trafficking in Salt Lake (p. 17). None of those reasons has anything to do with this case and are totally irrelevant. If it was the confidential informant who sold the stickers to Mr. Dabbs, or set-up the commission of the crime then the State would have to disclose the identity of the informer. Portomene vs. U.S. 221 F2d 582, U. S. vs. Confati 200 F2d 365, Sorrentino vs. U.S. 163 F2d 627. In each case it was stated that the identity of such an informer must be disclosed whenever the informer's testimony may be relevant and helpful to the accused's defense. Id.

Since separate trials were not ordered the only person that Brent Sessions could call upon other than Louis Dabbs that could corroborate, controvert, explain or amplify Dabbs' statement would be the confidential informant, whose identity was not disclosed. The informer was the only witness in a position to amplify and corroborate or contradict Dabbs' statement that he was an investor. Therefore, the trial court committed prejudicial error in allowing the State to withhold the identity of its informant.

POINT OF ERROR NUMBER THREE: THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED PURSUANT TO A SEARCH WARRANT ISSUED ON A CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID AFFIDAVIT.

The record will first reflect that the search warrant and the Affidavit are not present. The record shows a Stipulation from the Assistant Attorney General for the State of Utah and Carolyn Nichols, attorney for Brent Sessions requesting that the search warrant and Affidavit be included in the Record on Appeal. However, neither the search warrant or the Affidavit have been located. Without the search warrant, the search warrant was prima facia unconstitutional under Aguilar 378 U.S. 108 (1964), and the 14th Amendment.

The record reflects that a search warrant was issued based upon the statements of a confidential informant. But the Affidavit was sworn to by Sgt. Mike Hanks of the Salt Lake City Sheriff's Department. Sgt. Hanks stated that he was contacted by a confidential informant who stated where the Defendants were living and that they had some safety stickers in their possession, with one of the trial serial numbers listed as 682793, but that he failed to set forth any "underlying circumstances" or any reason or information that the informant was "credible" or his information "reliable" as required by Aguilar vs. Texas 378 U.S. 108 (1964).

The informer's report must first be measured against Aguilar's standards before its probative value can be assessed. Spinelli vs. U.S. 393 U.S. 410, 415 89 SC 584, 21 LED2d 637. Without the "underlying circumstances" set out or any information why the informant was "credible" or his informant was "credible" or his information "reliable" the search cannot be assumed to be constitutional or the Affidavit sufficient. Aguilar vs. Texas 378 U.S. 108, (1964) and Spinelli vs. U.S. 393 U.S. 410, 415, 89 SC 584, 21 LED2d 637. The Aguilar case stands for the proposition that the State has to prove that there were underlying circumstances and that the informant was reliable and these facts must be set out on

the face of the Affidavit. If those facts are not specifically stated on the face of the Affidavit, then the Affidavit is insufficient and cannot provide a basis for a finding of probable cause. Spinelli (at 418). Probable cause must be determined by a neutral and detached magistrate Johnson vs. U.S. 333 U.S. 10, 14 (1948) and is required by the 4th Amendment and the Utah Constitution. A magistrate cannot be said to have properly discharged his constitutional duty if he relies on an informer's tip which is not as reliable as one which passes Aguilar's requirements and has not satisfied both requirements of Aguilar and Spinelli (at 416). Without this affirmative showing through the Affidavit and warrant, there cannot be a finding of probable cause, Aguilar, and any search warrant issued violates the 4th Amendment.

POINT OF ERROR NUMBER FOUR: THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN APPLYING THE PRESUMPTION CREATED IN UCA 76-6-402 TO A BURGLARY CHARGE.

The presumption created in § 76-6-402 is applicable only to theft and states:

"Possession of property recently stolen when no satisfactory explanation of such possession is made, shall be deemed prima facia evidence that the person in possession stole the property."

The trial Judge applied this presumption to the burglary charge which had the effect of depriving the Defendants of their 5th and 14th Amendment rights, switching the burden of proof from the prosecution to the Defendants and depriving the Defendants of the statutory presumption of innocence created in 76-1-501.

This Court has had several occasions to rule on the question of the

76-6-402 presumption as applied to a burglary. State vs. Thomas 121 Utah 639, 244 P2d 653, State vs. Kinsey 77 Utah 348, 295 P2d 247, State vs. Nichols 106 Utah 104, 145 P2d 802, State vs. Kirkham 20 Utah 2d 46. The view of this Court has been that:

"Possession of articles recently stolen, when coupled with circumstances inconsistent with innocence, such as hiding or concealing them, or of making a false or improbable or unsatisfactory explanation of the possession, may be sufficient to connect the possession with the offense of burglary and justify conviction of it. Thomas at 640, and in State vs. Kinsey 77 Utah 345, 295 P2d 247 this Court stated "mere possession of recently stolen property, if not coupled with other inculpatory or incriminating circumstances will not support a burglary conviction."

On the facts of our case it was clear error to apply the 76-6-402 presumption. The facts fail to show any circumstances inconsistent with innocence. The T.V. was located in plain view sitting on the table in the living room. The safety stickers were located in a jar in the living room (p. 31). The meat was located in the freezer. There was no evidence at all that the recently stolen articles were hidden or concealed.

There is no showing that either Defendant made a false, improbable or unsatisfactory explanation of the possession. Mr. Sessions, when asked who the T.V. belonged to said, "It belongs to a friend." (p. 33). This statement is not in any way inconsistent with innocence. It simply answers Mr. Hanks' question. It was not disproved or even disclaimed by the State. If Officer Hanks was unsatisfied with the answer he could

have delved into the matter and continued asking questions. We assume he was satisfied because he then asked about the safety stickers.

Upon being asked about the safety stickers, Mr. Sessions remained quiet which is his constitutional right and Mr. Dabbs made the statement that he was an investor (p. 33). *What he said...*

There is no showing that Mr. Hanks thought this statement to be false, improbable or unsatisfactory. And without some element of proof this statement cannot be assumed to be inconsistent with innocence. UCA 76-1-501.

In State vs. Gonzales 30 Utah 2d 302, 303 this Court said:

"Bare possession when not coupled with other culpatory or incriminating circumstances would not justify a conviction, but that possession of recently stolen property coupled with flight and the making of false or unreasonable or unsatisfactory explanations of the possession might be sufficient to connect the possession with the commission of the offense." ~~X~~

It should be emphasized that Gonzales says that possession when coupled with flight and false explanations might be sufficient. But in our case, as has been stated there were no false statements and certainly there was no flight. Neither Defendant tried to escape or flee the apartment. To the contrary, both were calm and cooperative. The facts here do not in any way justify application of the presumption and of putting the burden of proof on the defense.

It should also be pointed out that "recently" stolen property in the Gonzales case meant a one day lapse, the Kirkham case was the same day and the Thomas case was the same day. In our case the lapse of time between the burglary and the arrest was seven or eight days, which further

attenuates any justification for application of the 76-6-402 presumption.

POINT OF ERROR NUMBER FIVE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO FIND THE DEFENDANTS GUILTY OF BURGLARY.

The facts brought out at the Preliminary Hearing and Trial showed that Brent Sessions had just moved into Dabbs apartment. That a burglary occurred at Gene Cope's Chevron Station which was four blocks from Defendants' apartment. That there were no fingerprints taken at the scene of the burglary. The articles reported stolen were 80 pounds of meat, a portable T.V., 20 inspection stickers, a stamp pad and an electric razor. When Defendants' apartment was searched a week later, the articles recovered from the apartment were 20 pounds of meat, a T.V. and five inspection stickers. This means only 1/4 of the meat, 1/4 of the safety stickers and a T.V. were recovered. It was on this evidence and the statements of Mr. Sessions that the T.V. belonged to a friend, Mr. Dabbs that he was an investor, that the trial court relied on in finding the Defendants guilty of burglary.

The Utah Statute on Burglary 76-6-202 states that "a person is guilty of burglary if he enters or remains unlawfully in a building or any portion of a building with intent to commit a felony or theft or commit an assault on any person." And § 76-1-501 provides:

"A Defendant in a criminal proceeding is presumed to be innocent until each element of the offense charged against him is proved beyond a reasonable doubt. In absence of such proof, the Defendant shall be acquitted."

The facts presented by the State could possibly make a case for receiving stolen property, but they were not charged with receiving

stolen property. They were charged with the crime of burglary. To convict Brent Sessions of burglary goes against the grain of our entire criminal justice system. The 5th Amendment provides that the accused shall be informed of the nature and the cause of the accusation and 76-1-501 requires each element of that offense to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Since he was not charged with receiving stolen property it is a major injustice to allow a burglary conviction to stand that was not proven. The circumstantial and direct evidence brought out at trial was totally insufficient as a matter of law to find the Defendants guilty of burglary.

The evidence totally fails to show that either Defendant was ever in the service station at all. Without that element proved beyond a reasonable doubt, the trial judge committed reversible error in not acquitting the Defendants.

CONCLUSION

Reversal of a trial court conviction is not a matter that should be taken lightly. But, if this conviction, based upon the facts brought out at trial and the errors committed by the trial Judge, were allowed to stand, it would totally obliterate the principle of our criminal justice system which is based on our Constitutions, the Statutes and the common law, as expounded on in actual cases.


The evidence and the cases show that the Defendant was deprived of his 6th Amendment right of Confrontation when the trial Judge erred and did not order separate trials or grant Defendant's Motion to Compel Discovery and Disclose the name of the confidential informant. The evidence also fails to show that the State met its burden under Aguilar

and Spinelli as to the two pronged test for the sufficiency of an Affidavit supporting a search warrant. Without that burden satisfied, there was no probable cause for the search or the arrest and everything thereafter was the "fruit of a poisonous tree." Wong Sun vs. U.S. 371 U.S. 471 83 Supreme Court 407 9 LED2d 441 (1963). By allowing the State's attorney to satisfy any lower standard of sufficiency, the Defendant is further deprived of his 4th Amendment right as applied to "probable cause" and "unreasonable search".

Another gross abuse of Defendant's statutory and constitutional rights came when the trial Judge, in the absence of any circumstances inconsistent with innocence, and in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, applied the presumption created in 76-6-402 UCA, which was intended to apply to theft only, thereby having the effect of switching the burden of proof to the Defendant. The evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for burglary and the trial Judge further deprived the Defendant of his rights when instead of presuming the Defendant innocent, he applied the theft presumption and presumed him to be guilty.

To allow such errors and abuses to go uncorrected would erode and destroy the inherent safeguards in our penal system and deny to the Defendant the greatest right of all, the right to due process of law.