1977

the State of Utah v. Brent Jay Sessions and Louis R. Dabbs : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with Burglary, a felony of the third degree.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant waived his right to a jury trial and was found guilty by the Honorable G. Hal Taylor, District Judge. Appellant was sentenced to a term of not more than five years in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks an order of this Court affirming the judgment and sentence rendered below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was tried jointly with his roommate, Louis R. Dabbs.

During the night of September 15, 1977, a service station was broken into, and a television, sixty to eighty pounds of frozen meat, and some safety inspection stickers were stolen from the premises (R.67-70). On September 22, 1977, Deputy Sheriff Mike Hanks executed a search warrant at the apartment where the appellants Sessions and Dabbs lived (R.73-74). Deputy Hanks found a television, a quantity of frozen meat, and some safety inspection stickers during his search (R.74). All of these objects were identified as the ones stolen from the service station (R.68-70). The apartment is located approximately two city blocks from the service station (R.74). During the search, Deputy Hanks asked who the television belonged to (R.77). The appellant Sessions replied that it belonged to a friend; the co-defendant Dabbs did not reply. Id. Later in the search, Deputy Hanks asked about the stickers. Id. The appellant Sessions said nothing, but the co-defendant Dabbs answered that he was an investor. Id.

At the time of trial, appellant filed three motions. The first was a motion to sever based on the ground that co-defendant Dabbs' statement ("I am an investor") was

admissible at trial and would prejudicially incriminate Sessions (R.22). This motion was denied (R.49). The second motion asked that all evidence gained by Deputy Hanks' search be suppressed on the grounds that the affidavit upon which the warrant issued was defective (R.21). The appellant did not produce the warrant or the affidavit in support of his motion, nor did he make a motion to discover that evidence (R.56-57). The court below held that the appellant had the burden of going forward on the motion to suppress, and that in the absence of any evidence the motion would be denied (R.50, 56,57). The court below then denied the motion to suppress with neither the warrant nor the affidavit before it (R.56-57). The third motion asked that the identity of a confidential informant be disclosed (R.23). Deputy Hanks represented to the court below that the disclosure of the informant's identity would jeopardize the informant's safety and decrease his usefulness as an informant (R.62). The court below held that disclosure of the informant's identity would not aid the defense and denied the motion (R.62-63). The informant did not testify at trial. The court found both defendants guilty (R.24). The defendant Dabbs was placed on probation (R.41), and defendant Sessions was sentenced to serve a term of not

less than five years in the Utah State Prison, this sentence to run concurrently with the other sentence defendant Sessions was serving (R.34).

It is from this conviction and sentence that the defendant Sessions appeals.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT BELOW DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SEVER.

Two or more defendants may be charged in the same information if it is alleged that they participated in the same act that constitutes an offense. Utah Code Ann. § 77-21-31(2) (Supp. 1977). Appellant claims, however, that it was error to try him with his roommate Dabbs because Dabbs' statement (i.e., "I am an investor") would incriminate the appellant and deny the appellant his right to cross-examine Dabbs. Respondent insists that this claim of error is without merit for three reasons. First, Dabbs' statement does not incriminate the appellant, and its admission at trial could not have prejudiced the appellant. Second, appellant was tried without a jury, and the court below is presumed to know the law (i.e., that Dabbs' hearsay statement was only admissible against Dabbs) and to have acted in

accordance with the law. Third, the statement was not a confession, and is not within the rule of law established by the authorities cited by the appellant.

As to the first point, respondent contends that Dabbs' statement, "I am an investor," does not refer to the appellant Sessions and cannot be reasonably construed to incriminate him. Appellant argues that the statement, ". . . is incriminatory in that it shows a knowledge on the part of Dabbs of where he got the stickers." (Brief of Appellant, p. 3, emphasis added.) Assuming that is true, it still does not incriminate Session, the appellant in this case, because being an "investor" has no relationship to being in possession of a television, sixty pounds of frozen meat, and numerous state safety inspection stickers. Respondent must conclude that appellant has not shown that admission of Dabbs' statement was prejudicial to him.

Further, respondent avers that any possible prejudice was removed because the case was heard by the court without a jury. In State v. McLaughlin, 22 Utah 2d 321, 452 P.2d 875 (1969), a defendant claimed error because a statement made by a co-defendant was admitted in evidence. This Court stated:

"Some of the more recent cases indicate that a jury, even with proper instructions by the court, would likely fail to consider an admission or confession only against the declarant. In the instant case, we conclude that a trial judge of learning and experience would only consider the evidence as it related to the issue of the guilt or innocence of McLaughlin." (Footnotes omitted.) McLaughlin at 323, 452 P.2d at 876.

Respondent submits that the court below knew that Dabbs' statement was not admissible against the appellant, and did not consider it in finding the appellant guilty.

Finally, respondent contends that the constitutional requirement for separate trials of co-defendants only applies in cases of confessions and not in every case of an incriminatory statement. The rationale of Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), was that, although a jury can follow many cautionary instructions, ". . . there are some contexts in which the risk that the jury will not, or cannot, follow instructions is so great, and the consequences of failure so vital to the defendant, that the practical and human limitations of the jury system cannot be ignored." Bruton at 135. Bruton suggests that a confession of a co-defendant can be such inflammatory evidence that cautionary instructions may not relieve the

defendant of prejudice. Respondent doubts, however, that every statement of a co-defendant is this inflammatory. Appellant's attempt to expand the Bruton rule beyond confessions is not persuasive. Justice Stewart's concurring opinion in Bruton at 137 states that it is improper to rely on cautionary instructions when ". . . the highly damaging out-of-court statement of a codefendant" is placed in evidence. Dabbs' statement, even if considered prejudicial to the appellant, cannot be categorized as a highly damaging, inflammatory piece of evidence that cannot be objectively weighed. Respondent submits that the admission of Dabbs' statement was not prejudicial error.

POINT II

THE COURT BELOW DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISCLOSE THE IDENTITY OF A CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT.

The State has a privilege to refuse to disclose the identity of an informer unless the trial court finds that his identity has already been disclosed or disclosure is essential to assure a fair determination of the issues. Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 36. The defendant has the burden of demonstrating that the informant would be a material witness on the issue of guilt. State v. Bankhead, 30 Utah 2d 135, 139, 514 P.2d 800, 803 (1973). Further, a defendant may not compel disclosure of an informant's identity to contest

the probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant. Id. at 138, 514 P.2d at 802. Respondent avers that appellant has not carried his burden of showing that the informant was a material witness. There is no evidence in the record that would link the informant to the commission of the crime. Appellant argues that Dabbs' statement might imply that Dabbs bought the stickers, and that if the informer was the seller of the stickers, his testimony would be material. (Brief of Appellant, pp.5-6.) The error in this argument is that there is no evidence that the informant was the seller, and respondent submits that speculation drawn from an inference cannot replace the evidence appellant must produce to carry his burden of demonstrating materiality.

The cases cited by appellant are factually distinguishable from the present case. In Rovario v. United States, 353 U.S. 53 (1957); Portomene v. United States, 221 F.2d 582 (5th Cir. 1955); United States v. Conforti, 200 F.2d 365 (7th Cir. 1952); and Sorrentino v. United States, 163 F.2d 627 (9th Cir. 1947); each defendant was charged with the sale of a narcotic drug to an unnamed informer, and each defendant sought disclosure of the alleged buyer's identity. In the case of a narcotic sale to an unnamed

buyer, disclosure of the informant's identity would be essential to the defense. In this case, however, there is no evidence that the informant participated in the offense, and his testimony has not been shown to be material to the issue of guilt. Respondent urges the Court to find that the trial court properly denied appellant's disclosure request.

POINT III

THE COURT BELOW PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO CARRY HIS BURDEN OF GOING FORWARD ON THE MOTION.

Appellant attempted to suppress evidence obtained during a search under a warrant. Searches conducted pursuant to a warrant are presumptively valid, and the movant has the burden of showing that the search was illegal. State v. Ames, 222 Kan. 88, 563 P.2d 1034 (1977); State v. Willcutt, 19 Or.App. 93, 526 P.2d 607 (1974); United States v. Various Gambling Devices, 478 F.2d 1194 (5th Cir. 1973). Specifically, the defendant has the burden of demonstrating that an affidavit on which a search warrant issues is invalid under Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410 (1969), and Aguilar v. Texas,

378 U.S. 103 (1964). Ames, supra at 92, 563 P.2d at 1039-40; Gaffney Devices, supra, at 1199. This Court has held that a defendant bears the burden of persuasion in moving to suppress evidence where the defendant's standing is in issue. State v. Montanye, 18 Utah 2d 38, 414 P.2d 958, cert. denied 385 U.S. 939 (1966). In this case, appellant produced no evidence as to the content of the affidavit in support of his motion to suppress. The presumption of constitutionality was not overcome, and respondent submits that the trial court properly denied the motion to suppress.

POINT IV

THE COURT BELOW PROPERLY APPLIED THE PRESUMPTION OF UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-6-402 (SUPP. 1977), IN THIS CASE.

The Utah criminal code provides that possession of recently stolen property is prima facie evidence that the possessor stole the property, unless a satisfactory explanation is made. Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-402(1) (Supp. 1977). In State v. Gonzales, 30 Utah 2d 302, 517 P.2d 547 (1973), this Court held that the same inferences can be drawn from the possession of recently stolen property in a burglary case as in a larceny case. Respondent does not understand appellant's fourth point on appeal to dispute the Gonzales holding. The sufficiency of the evidence, including the

evidence of possession of the stolen goods, will be discussed in Point V, infra. This point will be limited to a discussion of the applicability of the presumption to this case.

First, appellant was found in possession of goods that were positively identified as stolen (R.68-70,74). Second, appellant offered no explanation of his possession of any of the stolen goods except the television. His explanation of possession of the television was that it belonged to a friend. The owner of the television did not know the appellant, nor did he give appellant permission to use it (R.67-68). The appellant's explanation is, therefore, not satisfactory. Finally, the goods in appellant's possession were stolen recently. The burglary occurred between late September 15, 1977, and 7:00 a.m. September 16, 1977, and the search was conducted in the afternoon of September 22, 1977. The question of what is such a recent possession as to raise the presumption is a question of fact, and a possession as long as four months from the date of the theft can present a jury question. State v. Bowen, 45 Utah 130, 143 Pac. 134 (1914). A 39 day period between a burglary and the discovery of stolen goods is not too great a period for evidence of possession of the goods to support a burglary conviction. State v. Iedbetter, 17 Utah 2d 353, 412 P.2d 312,

cert. denied 385 U.S. 922 (1966). Respondent submits that the six to seven day period between the burglary and the search raised a question of fact, properly resolved below, of whether appellant was in possession of "recently" stolen goods.

Respondent submits that the presumption that the possessor of recently stolen goods stole the goods was properly applied in this burglary case.

POINT V

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF THE COURT BELOW.

Appellant's brief alludes to facts brought out at preliminary hearing, such as the allegation that the appellant had just moved into Dabbs' apartment (Brief of Appellant, p. 11). The record does not contain the transcript of the preliminary hearing, nor does it contain any other evidence to support appellant's contention that he recently moved into Dabbs' apartment. Respondent submits that appellant's factual allegation is improperly before the Court.

The evidence in the record and the inferences fairly drawn therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict are as follows:

A burglary was committed at Cope's service station. The appellant was found, seven days later and two city blocks away, in possession of goods taken during the burglary. Appellant offered no explanation as to his possession of the stolen meat or stickers, and stated that the television belonged to an unnamed friend. In fact, the owner of the television did not know the appellant or give him permission to use it. The appellant's explanation of his possession of the television was either false or unsatisfactory.

As the Court stated in State v. Thomas, 121 Utah 639, 641, 244 P.2d 653, 654 (1952):

"... possession of articles recently stolen, when coupled with circumstances inconsistent with innocence, such as ... making a false or improbable or unsatisfactory explanation of the possession, may be sufficient to connect the possessor with the offense of burglary and justify his conviction of it."

Respondent submits the evidence was sufficient to support the verdict.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing points and authorities, respondent asks that the judgment of the court below be affirmed.